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29009519
 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURTEASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN
 DAWN MARIE DELEBREAU,
 Plaintiff,
 v.
 CHRISTINA DANFORTH, LARRYBARTON, MELINDA DANFORTH, JAYFUSS, and GERALDINE DANFORTH,
 Defendants.
 Case No. 17-CV-1221-WCG
 BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS
 INTRODUCTION
 Defendants Cristina Danforth (improperly sued as “Christina” Danforth), Larry Barton,
 Melinda Danforth, and Geraldine Danforth (collectively, “defendants”) have moved to dismiss
 this action filed by plaintiff Dawn Marie Delebreau (“plaintiff” or “Delebreau”) pursuant to Fed.
 R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6). This action must be dismissed for lack of subject matter
 jurisdiction under Rule 12(b)(1) because there is no federal jurisdiction based on a federal
 question or diversity of citizenship basis. It must be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(1) also because
 plaintiff lacks standing under Article III of the United States constitution to assert claims against
 defendants.
 The Complaint also must be dismissed under the doctrine of tribal sovereign immunity.
 Plaintiff is a former employee of the Oneida Nation1 and she sues defendants relating to actions
 taken by the Oneida Nation concerning her employment, including job transfers and terminations
 1Plaintiff refers to the Oneida Tribe in her Complaint. The Oneida Tribe of Indians of Wisconsin is now
 known as the Oneida Nation and defendants will refer to it as Oneida Nation in this brief.
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 of employment. Defendants were allegedly tribal employees. The Complaint must be dismissed
 under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) to the extent the claims in this case are claims for relief for the
 conduct of the Oneida Nation. Such claims are barred by sovereign immunity.
 In addition to the jurisdictional defects, the Complaint must be dismissed because the
 allegations fail to state a claim upon which relief may be granted under federal law against
 defendants. Plaintiff alleges that defendants took adverse actions against her in “retaliation” for
 her disclosure of certain improprieties that were occurring in the Oneida Housing Authority
 (described by plaintiff as “whistle blowing”). However, even liberally construed, the allegations
 fail to state a claim for retaliation against defendants. Any claims for retaliation under Title VII
 or other federal statutes must be made against the “employer,” not supervisors or fellow
 employees. Such statutory claims therefore cannot be made against the individual defendants.
 Additionally, the defendants are not alleged to have been plaintiff’s supervisor, nor are they
 alleged to have engaged in any adverse actions with respect to her employment. To the extent
 plaintiff is complaining about the termination of her employment with the Oneida Nation and/or
 transfers of her positions within the Nation, those were actions of her employer, the Oneida
 Nation, and not the individual defendants. Plaintiff has sued the wrong party. Nor could a claim
 under Title VII be asserted against the Oneida Nation because Indian tribes are not “employers”
 subject to liability under that statute. (See pages 20 to 21, below.)
 Finally, to the extent the Complaint attempts to state a claim for defamation arising from
 statements made concerning plaintiff, such claims must be dismissed first because there is no
 federal jurisdiction over such claims. Because the Complaint fails to state a claim for violation
 of federal law against defendants, there likewise is no federal jurisdiction over any state law
 claims under supplemental jurisdiction, 28 U.S.C. § 1367. To the extent the Complaint attempts
 Case 1:17-cv-01221-WCG Filed 01/24/18 Page 2 of 27 Document 39
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 to assert a claim for defamation, such claim must be dismissed because the alleged defamatory
 statements were made to plaintiff directly. That claim must be dismissed also because the
 alleged statements were made more than three years before the filing of this action and therefore
 are barred by the statute of limitations.
 FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
 As stated in plaintiff’s pro se Complaint, plaintiff filed this action against the individual
 defendants, employees of the Oneida Nation, to recover damages caused by “years of mental
 anguish, financial hardship, lack of employment, assaults to [her] personal integrity/character,”
 and “disparaging remarks about me to my son/children on a continual basis.” (Compl. at pp.1-2;
 Compl. at p.4, “Relief wanted”). Plaintiff also seeks to have implemented changes to the laws
 applicable to the Oneida Nation. (Compl. at p.4, “Future Changes I’d like to see”).
 This requested relief is based upon events that allegedly occurred relating to plaintiff’s
 employment with the Oneida Nation. The individual defendants Cristina Danforth, Larry
 Barton, Geraldine Danforth, and Melinda Danforth allegedly harmed plaintiff while performing
 their jobs working for Oneida Nation. (Compl. at pp.1-2).
 Specifically, plaintiff alleges:
 From March 2009 to March 2013, plaintiff worked as an Administrative Assistant with
 the Oneida Housing Authority. (Compl. at p.3). In January 2013, plaintiff discovered purchase
 requisitions and invoices for materials for a home that was not within the Oneida HUD housing
 sites process. The home was allegedly owned by Sarah Skenandore, an Oneida Nation employee
 not a defendant in this case, and plaintiff contacted Patrick Stensloff, another Oneida Nation
 employee also not a defendant. (Id.). Defendant Cristina Danforth allegedly asked to meet with
 plaintiff to discuss what she uncovered, along with Donna Christensen, another Oneida Nation
 employee not a defendant in this case. (Id.).
 Case 1:17-cv-01221-WCG Filed 01/24/18 Page 3 of 27 Document 39
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 The Complaint alleges that in June 2017, defendant Jay Fuss, the Superintendent of the
 Oneida Housing Authority,2 was indicted for the misappropriation and theft of materials
 belonging to the Oneida Housing Authority for Oneida HUD housing sites,3 which were
 allegedly for the construction of new homes and rehabilitation of existing homes under a HUD
 program. (Id.).
 On March 21, 2013, plaintiff was transferred from her Administrative Assistant position
 with the Oneida Housing Authority to an Insurance Clerk position in the Risk Management
 Department of the Oneida Nation, reporting to Bob Keck, Risk Management Director (not a
 defendant in this case). (Id.). The Risk Management Director allegedly reported to defendant
 Larry Barton, CFO of the Oneida Nation, who in turn allegedly reported to defendant Cristina
 Danforth, Oneida Nation’s Treasurer. (Id.).
 The Administrative Assistant position with the Housing Authority was a “full time
 benefitted job,” while the Insurance Clerk position with Risk Management was allegedly a
 “limited term employment contract.” See (id.). When transferred to the Insurance Clerk
 position, plaintiff was allegedly promised that she would later be placed back in a full-time
 benefitted position within two years. (Id.). As Insurance Clerk, plaintiff worked in the “HRD
 building” located at 909 Packerland Drive in Green Bay. (Id.).
 While working in the HRD building, plaintiff alleges that she was “confronted” by
 defendant Geraldine Danforth, “HRD Director,” who allegedly “let[] [plaintiff] know” that “she
 was not liked nor was she wanted up there” and that Geraldine “didn’t approve that move for
 2Defendant Jay Fuss was recently served in this case. [Doc.#27]. Fuss has not yet appeared in this case.
 Undersigned counsel does not represent Fuss.3
 In United States v. Jay Fuss, Eastern District of Wisconsin Case No. 17-CR-92-WCG, on September 29,2017 Jay Fuss pleaded guilty to embezzlement from an Indian Tribe, and his sentencing hearing washeld on January 3, 2018 before this Court.
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 Dawn as she was a ‘Whistle Blower.’ ” (Id.). This allegedly occurred during her employment as
 Insurance Clerk, between the end of March 2013 and early November 2013. (Id.).
 Plaintiff alleges that the environment in the Insurance Clerk position became a “very
 intimidating, unfriendly, uncooperative work environment.” (Id.). The Complaint does not
 allege who caused this environment, and does not allege that any of the individual defendants
 caused the environment to be this way.
 On November 2, 2013, plaintiff allegedly was terminated from the Insurance Clerk
 position. (Id.). The Complaint does not allege that any of the individual defendants terminated
 plaintiff’s employment. Plaintiff was later reinstated to limited term employment with Oneida
 Nation. (Id.).
 Rather than being restored to the Insurance Clerk position, on January 21, 2014 plaintiff
 was reassigned to the Oneida Museum as a Cultural Interpreter. (Id.). Plaintiff was terminated
 from this position on September 18, 2014. (Id.). The Complaint does not allege that any of the
 individual defendants terminated plaintiff’s employment.
 Plaintiff claims that during the last “5 years,” she has incurred “financial debt, mental and
 emotional hardship, and the destruction of [her] personal integrity.” (Compl. at p.4). Plaintiff
 contends that she was “eliminate[d]” as an Oneida Nation employee after disclosing the alleged
 “misappropriation and theft of HUD funds” and that unidentified persons retaliated against her
 for coming forward to protect others at Oneida Nation. (Id.). Such persons being protected are
 not identified in the Complaint. Plaintiff alleges that it was “very hard” to find an attorney
 “willing to take on one of the richest tribes such as Oneida Nation for said principles.” (Id.).
 STANDARD FOR MOTION TO DISMISS
 Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)(2) requires a plaintiff to set forth “a short and plain
 statement of the claim showing that [he or she] is entitled to relief.” While it need not contain all
 Case 1:17-cv-01221-WCG Filed 01/24/18 Page 5 of 27 Document 39
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 relevant specific factual allegations and legal arguments, at minimum, a complaint must include
 allegations that “ ‘state a claim for relief that is plausible on its face.’ ” Justice v. Town of
 Cicero, 577 F.3d 768, 771 (7th Cir. 2009) (quoting Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009);
 Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)); accord Mattek v. Deutsche Bank Nat’l
 Trust Co., 766 F. Supp. 2d 899, 900 (E.D. Wis. 2011). In reviewing the Complaint, the Court
 will accept as true the facts as pled by the plaintiff and will “draw all reasonable inferences in
 favor of the plaintiff.” Palka v. Shelton, 623 F.3d 447, 452 (7th Cir. 2010).
 The U.S. Supreme Court has explained that a “claim has facial plausibility when the
 plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the
 defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged,” Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citing Twombly, 550 U.S.
 at 556), and the factual allegations in the complaint must be “enough ‘to raise a right to relief
 above the speculative level.’ ” DeKeyser v. Thyssenkrupp Waupaca, Inc., 589 F. Supp. 2d 1026,
 1029 (E.D. Wis. 2008) (quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555).
 A complaint that includes mere conclusory assertions and labels without the necessary
 factual allegations fails to meet this standard. “Threadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of
 action, supported by mere conclusory statements, do not suffice.” Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678.
 Although factual allegations are accepted as true for purposes of a motion to dismiss, a court is
 “not bound to accept as true a legal conclusion couched as a factual allegation.” Papasan v.
 Allain, 478 U.S. 265, 286 (1986).
 The allegations of the complaint of a pro se plaintiff are entitled to liberal construction.
 However, the Court is not compelled to “fill in all of the blanks in a pro se complaint.” Hamlin
 v. Vaudenberg, 95 F.3d 580, 583 (7th Cir. 1996). Stated differently, “ ‘[t]he essence of liberal
 construction is to give a pro se plaintiff a break when, although he stumbles on a technicality, his
 Case 1:17-cv-01221-WCG Filed 01/24/18 Page 6 of 27 Document 39
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 pleading is otherwise understandable.’ However, a lawsuit is not a game of hunt the peanut.”
 Greer v. Bd. of Educ. of Chi., 267 F.3d 723, 727 (7th Cir. 2001) (internal citation omitted); see
 also Del Marcelle v. Wis., 902 F. Supp. 859, 861 (E.D. Wis. 1995) (“The plaintiff’s pro se
 complaint must be liberally construed, but even pro se complainants must provide some factual
 support for their claims.”). In identifying and interpreting specific allegations, “courts are
 supposed to analyze a litigant’s claims and not just the legal theories that he propounds—
 especially when he is litigating pro se.” Norfleet v. Walker, 684 F.3d 688, 690 (7th Cir. 2012)
 (internal citations omitted).
 ARGUMENT
 I. The Complaint Must be Dismissed Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1).
 Because the Court must ascertain its subject matter jurisdiction before taking up the
 merits, this brief first addresses subject matter jurisdiction, specifically, federal jurisdiction and
 Article III standing,4 before discussing other grounds for dismissal under Fed. R. Civ. P.
 12(b)(6). See Ruhrgas AG v. Marathon Oil Co., 526 U.S. 574, 583 (1999); see also Orum v.
 Commissioner of Internal Revenue, 412 F.3d 819 (7th Cir. 2005) (“Federal courts must ascertain
 subject-matter jurisdiction before taking up the merits.”) (citing Steel Co. v. Citizens for Better
 Environment, 523 U.S. 83, 94–95 (1998)).
 When a defendant challenges subject-matter jurisdiction, the plaintiff, as the party
 asserting jurisdiction, bears the burden of establishing jurisdiction. Lujan v. Defenders of
 Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 561 (1992). As shown below, the Complaint should be dismissed
 pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) on one of two independent grounds.
 4Because standing is an essential jurisdictional requirement, “[a] challenge of standing is [also] a
 challenge to a court’s subject-matter jurisdiction.” Conlon v. Sebelius, 923 F. Supp. 2d 1126, 1130(N.D. Ill. 2013).
 Case 1:17-cv-01221-WCG Filed 01/24/18 Page 7 of 27 Document 39
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 A. There is No Federal Jurisdiction.
 The Complaint must be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction because there is
 not jurisdiction on the basis of federal question jurisdiction nor jurisdiction premised upon
 diversity of citizenship. 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1332.
 1. There is No Federal Question Jurisdiction.
 This action must be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. There is no federal
 question jurisdiction because the Complaint against defendants does not arise under the U.S.
 Constitution or the federal statutes. 28 U.S.C. § 1331. Plaintiff fails to identify the provision of
 the United States Constitution or any federal statute involved in her action against defendants.
 The Complaint does not assert any claim against defendants arising under the U.S. Constitution
 or the federal statutes. 28 U.S.C. § 1331.
 The Complaint states that this case “falls under Office of Tribal Justice 28 CFR ch I (7-
 11) editions.” (Compl. at p.4). This does not assert any law under which plaintiff has a claim
 upon which to sue the individual defendants. “The Office of Tribal Justice (OTJ) was initially
 formed in response to requests from Tribal leaders for a dedicated point of contact for Indian
 country-specific legal and policy matters.” See https://www.justice.gov/otj. Laws establishing
 the OTJ do not establish a claim for relief that can be asserted against the individual defendants.
 The Complaint also mentions laws or changes to the law that plaintiff would like to be
 enacted in the future and her desire concerning the handling of laws created by tribal
 governments. (Compl. at p.4). Again, this does not assert a federal law under which plaintiff
 asserts a claim for relief against the individual defendants.
 Nor do the allegations against defendants in substance assert claims under federal law.
 To establish federal question jurisdiction under section 1331, federal claims must “appear on the
 face of plaintiff’s well-pleaded complaint.” U.S. Bank Nat’l Ass’n v. Collins–Fuller T., 831 F.3d
 Case 1:17-cv-01221-WCG Filed 01/24/18 Page 8 of 27 Document 39

Page 9
                        

929009519
 407, 410 (7th Cir. 2016); see also Holmes Grp., Inc. v. Vornado Air Circulation Sys., Inc., 535
 U.S. 826, 831 (2002) (“[F]ederal jurisdiction generally exists ‘only when a federal question is
 presented on the face of the plaintiff’s properly pleaded complaint.’ ”).
 There are no federal claims asserted against the individual defendants. To the extent
 plaintiff attempts to allege a federal claim arising from adverse employment actions such as her
 transfer in positions and/or the termination of her employment, Oneida Nation was her employer
 – not any of the individual defendants. There are no claims alleged in the Complaint against the
 individual defendants arising under federal law. See part III.A, III.B, and III.C, below.
 Defendant Melinda Danforth is not alleged to have engaged in any conduct whatsoever as
 to plaintiff. Defendants Cristina Danforth, Larry Barton, and Geraldine Danforth are not alleged
 to have been plaintiff’s supervisor or employer. Nor did any of these defendants allegedly
 terminate plaintiff’s employment. Accordingly, there are no claims arising under the United
 States Constitution or the federal laws alleged against any of these defendants.5
 Finally, to the extent the Complaint attempts to assert a state law claim for defamation,
 there is no federal jurisdiction for such claim. Because there are no claims stated under federal
 law, there can be no federal jurisdiction over any associated state law claims on a theory of
 supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1367. Doe-2 v. McLean Cty. Unit Dist. No. 5 Bd. of
 Directors, 593 F.3d 507, 513 (7th Cir. 2010) (“Ordinarily, when a district court dismisses the
 federal claim conferring original jurisdiction before trial, it relinquishes supplemental
 jurisdiction over any state-law claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3).”); see also Phillips
 Getschow Co. v. Green Bay Brown Cty. Prof’l Football Stadium Dist., 270 F. Supp. 2d 1043,
 5Nor is defendant Jay Fuss alleged to have terminated plaintiff’s employment or otherwise engaged in
 conduct toward plaintiff that gives rise to a claim under the federal statutes or U.S. Constitution.
 Case 1:17-cv-01221-WCG Filed 01/24/18 Page 9 of 27 Document 39
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 1051 (E.D. Wis. 2003) (“Pursuant to § 1367(c), [district court] may decline to exercise
 supplemental jurisdiction over a state law claim if [court has] dismissed all federal claims.”).
 2. There is No Federal Jurisdiction Based Upon Diversity of Citizenship.
 Nor is there subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1332. All parties are alleged to
 be citizens of Wisconsin. (Compl. at pp.1-2). Therefore, there is no diversity of citizenship
 among the parties.
 B. Plaintiff Has No Article III Standing to Assert Claims Against Defendants.
 To invoke the jurisdiction of the federal courts, the Complaint must establish that plaintiff
 has standing to assert claims against each of the individual defendants. Wittman v.
 Personhuballah, 136 S. Ct. 1732, 1736 (2016). “A party has standing only if he shows that he
 has suffered an ‘injury in fact,’ that the injury is ‘fairly traceable’ to the conduct being
 challenged, and that the injury will likely be ‘redressed’ by a favorable decision.” (Id.) “Where,
 as here, a case is at the pleading stage, the plaintiff must ‘clearly ... allege facts demonstrating’
 each element.” Spokeo, Inc. v. Robins, 136 S. Ct. 1540, 1547 (2016).
 For an injury to be “fairly traceable,” there must be a “causal connection between the
 injury and the conduct complained of—the injury has to be ‘fairly ... trace[able] to the challenged
 action of the defendant, and not ... th[e] result [of] the independent action of some third party not
 before the court.’ ” Lujan v. Defs. of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992) (alteration in original)
 (quoting Simon v. E. Ky. Welfare Rights Organization, 426 U.S. 26, 41-42 (1976)). This prong
 of the standing inquiry can be established if “the plaintiff has shown an injury to himself that is
 likely to be redressed by a favorable decision.” Simon, 426 U.S. at 43.
 The Complaint does not allege any injury in fact fairly traceable to the conduct of the
 individual defendants. First, the Complaint does not allege that Melinda Danforth engaged in
 Case 1:17-cv-01221-WCG Filed 01/24/18 Page 10 of 27 Document 39
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 any conduct whatsoever directed at plaintiff. Therefore, there is no injury alleged that could be
 connected to Melinda.
 Second, the Complaint does not allege that Cristina Danforth engaged in any conduct
 causing injury to plaintiff for which she can recover in this case. It does not allege that Cristina
 was plaintiff’s supervisor, for example, or that Cristina terminated plaintiff’s employment.
 There is no allegation that Cristina participated in the termination of plaintiff’s employment with
 the Risk Management department, for example, or with the Oneida Museum.
 Third, the Complaint does not allege that Larry Barton engaged in any conduct directed
 at plaintiff that caused her harm. It does not allege that Barton was plaintiff’s supervisor, for
 example, that Barton terminated plaintiff’s employment, or that Barton participated in the
 termination of her employment.
 Finally, the Complaint does not allege that Geraldine Danforth engaged in any conduct
 against plaintiff that gives rise to a claim for relief under federal law. It does not allege that
 Geraldine was plaintiff’s supervisor, for example, that she terminated plaintiff’s employment, or
 that she participated in the termination of plaintiff’s employment.6
 The Complaint does not allege any injury in fact that is fairly traceable to conduct of any
 of these defendants. Therefore, plaintiff lacks standing under Article III to assert claims against
 defendants under those allegations.
 6At most, plaintiff asserts a claim against Geraldine Danforth arising from Geraldine’s alleged statements
 that were negative towards plaintiff or that criticized her. To the extent such claim attempts to asserta claim for defamation, that is a state law claim not giving rise to federal question jurisdiction.Moreover, as shown in part III.D, below, such claim is barred by the applicable statute of limitationsand, moreover, the statements do not constitute defamation as a matter of law.
 Case 1:17-cv-01221-WCG Filed 01/24/18 Page 11 of 27 Document 39

Page 12
                        

1229009519
 II. To The Extent The Claims Seek a Remedy Against Oneida Nation, They Fall WithinTribal Sovereign Immunity.
 To the extent plaintiff’s claims against defendants arise from actions of Oneida Nation,
 including the termination of her employment or transfers within the Nation, and claim damage
 from such actions, the claims fall within tribal sovereign immunity. In the Seventh Circuit, the
 issue of sovereign immunity is technically not a “jurisdictional one.” Meyers v. Oneida Tribe of
 Indians of Wisconsin, No. 15-CV-445, 2015 WL 13186223, at *1 (E.D. Wis. Sept. 4, 2015),
 aff’d, 836 F.3d 818 (7th Cir. 2016). The Court can decide the question of tribal sovereign
 immunity at the pleading stage under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) where, as here, “the immunity
 issue is clearly raised by the facts in the complaint.” (Id.); see also Meyers v. Oneida Tribe of
 Indians of Wisconsin, 836 F.3d 818, 823 (7th Cir. 2016), cert. denied, 137 S. Ct. 1331 (2017)
 (Courts may choose among different “non-merits threshold” grounds for dismissing an action,
 including tribal sovereign immunity; “a federal court has leeway to choose among threshold
 grounds for denying an audience on the merits, and our conclusion that the defendants have
 sovereign immunity resolves a non-merits threshold matter without further burden on the courts
 and parties . . . .”).
 An “Indian tribe[] possesses ‘the common-law immunity from suit traditionally enjoyed
 by sovereign powers.’ ” Miller v. Coyhis, 877 F. Supp. 1262, 1265 (E.D. Wis. 1995). “As a
 matter of federal law, an Indian tribe is subject to suit only where Congress has authorized the
 suit or the tribe has waived its immunity.” Kiowa Tribe of Okla. v. Mfg. Techs., Inc., 523 U.S.
 751, 754 (1998) (emphasis added); accord Okla. Tax Comm’n v. Citizen Band Potawatomi
 Indian Tribe of Okla., 498 U.S. 505, 509 (1991) (“Indian tribes are domestic dependent nations
 that exercise inherent sovereign authority over their members and territories. Suits against
 Indian tribes are thus barred by sovereign immunity absent a clear waiver by the tribe or
 Case 1:17-cv-01221-WCG Filed 01/24/18 Page 12 of 27 Document 39
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 congressional abrogation.” (internal citation omitted)). The doctrine of tribal sovereign
 immunity is rooted in federal common law and reflects the federal Constitution’s treatment of
 Indian tribes as sovereign entities under the Indian commerce clause. See U.S. Const. art. I, § 8.
 As the Supreme Court has indicated, tribal sovereign immunity “is a necessary corollary to
 Indian sovereignty and self-governance.” Three Affiliated Tribes of Fort Berthold Reservation v.
 Wold Eng’g, 476 U.S. 877, 890 (1986).
 Plaintiff has sued only the individual defendants rather than Oneida Nation apparently to
 plead around sovereign immunity. Plaintiff indicates she is suing defendants “as individuals
 stemming from reckless and prohibited retaliatory action . . . .” (Motion to Reject Motion to
 Dismiss [Doc.#18:1]); see also (id. at 2) (Defendants “are being sued punitively as individuals
 because of recklessness in engaging in prohibited retaliation.”) Plaintiff argues that her claims
 against defendants fall outside of sovereign immunity, citing Lewis v. Clarke, 137 S. Ct. 1285
 (2017). (Motion to Reject Motion to Dismiss [Doc.#18:2-3].)
 Lewis is a decision of the United States Supreme Court issued on April 25, 2017. In that
 case, a motor vehicle driver and passenger sued an employee of an Indian tribe in his individual
 capacity. The plaintiffs filed a negligence claim in state court seeking damages from an accident
 caused by the defendant when he was driving within the scope of his duties as an employee of
 the tribe. The Supreme Court held that “in a suit brought against a tribal employee in his
 individual capacity, the employee, not the tribe, is the real party in interest and the tribe’s
 sovereign immunity is not implicated.” Lewis, 137 S. Ct. at 1288. The Court applied the law
 governing sovereign immunity for state and federal employees, reasoning that it applies equally
 in the context of tribal sovereign immunity. (Id. at 1291). Lewis applies common law sovereign
 Case 1:17-cv-01221-WCG Filed 01/24/18 Page 13 of 27 Document 39
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 immunity principles to the question of sovereign immunity for claims asserted against tribal
 employees. (Id. at 1291-92).
 Under those common law principles, courts must examine whether “the sovereign is the
 real party in interest to determine whether sovereign immunity bars the suit.” (Id. at 1290).
 Courts must look beyond the characterization of the parties in the complaint and determine if the
 remedy sought is really a claim against the sovereign. (Id.). If an action is in essence one
 against the sovereign even if the sovereign is not a named party, then the sovereign “is the real
 party in interest and is entitled to invoke” sovereign immunity. (Id.). As the Supreme Court
 explained:
 Our cases establish that, in the context of lawsuits againststate and federal employees or entities, courts should look towhether the sovereign is the real party in interest to determinewhether sovereign immunity bars the suit. See Hafer v. Melo, 502U.S. 21, 25, 112 S. Ct. 358, 116 L. Ed. 2d 301 (1991). In makingthis assessment, courts may not simply rely on the characterizationof the parties in the complaint, but rather must determine in thefirst instance whether the remedy sought is truly against thesovereign. See, e.g., Ex parte New York, 256 U.S. 490, 500–502,41 S. Ct. 588, 65 L. Ed. 1057 (1921). If, for example, an action isin essence against a State even if the State is not a named party,then the State is the real party in interest and is entitled to invokethe Eleventh Amendment’s protection.
 Lewis, 137 S. Ct. at 1290 (emphasis added).
 If it is the actions of Oneida Nation, not the individual defendants, that caused plaintiff’s
 injury, then the claim falls within tribal sovereign immunity. Miller, 877 F. Supp. at 1267-68.
 Where, as here, it is the action of Oneida Nation itself – the job transfers of plaintiff within
 Oneida Nation and the termination of plaintiff’s employment – that caused plaintiff’s alleged
 injury, the action will be viewed as a lawsuit against Oneida Nation. (Id.)
 This action was filed against individual defendants who are employees of Oneida Nation.
 (Compl. at pp.1-2) (individual defendants “worked for Oneida Tribe of Wisconsin”). To the
 Case 1:17-cv-01221-WCG Filed 01/24/18 Page 14 of 27 Document 39
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 extent the Complaint seeks reinstatement to employment with Oneida Nation or seeks to change
 the law/policies of Oneida Nation, those are claims against Oneida Nation and fall within tribal
 sovereign immunity. See (Compl. at p.4). Likewise, to the extent the action claims injury from
 the termination of plaintiff’s employment with Oneida Nation or her transfers of position, those
 too are claims against Oneida Nation, not the individual defendants. She asserts claims and
 seeks remedies against Oneida Nation, not against the individual defendants.
 The Complaint seeks changes to the law generally that apply to Oneida Nation (see
 Complaint at p.4, Statement of Claim, “Future Changes I’d like to see”). To that extent, the
 remedy sought by the Complaint is truly against the tribal sovereign because it would require
 action by the sovereign. See Lewis, 137 S. Ct. at 1291.
 To the extent the Complaint is complaining about plaintiff’s job transfers and ultimate
 termination of employment with Oneida Nation, those are claims against Oneida Nation, not the
 individual defendants. None of the individual defendants were plaintiff’s supervisors and none
 of them are alleged to have terminated her employment. Thus, the employment-related
 allegations are claims against Oneida Nation, not the individual defendants. As such, those
 claims fall within the Oneida Nation’s sovereign immunity and they must be dismissed. See
 Lewis, 137 S. Ct. at 1290-91; see also Imperial Granite Co. v. Pala Band of Mission Indians, 940
 F.2d 1269, 1271 (9th Cir. 1991) (the official action of the board of the Tribe caused plaintiff’s
 alleged injury, not the individually named defendants, who were members of the board; claims
 therefore fell within the Tribe’s sovereign immunity); Brown v. Garcia, 17 Cal. App. 5th 1198,
 225 Cal. Rptr. 3d 910 (Ct. App. 2017) (defamation action by members of Indian tribe against
 current and former tribal officials encroached on tribe’s sovereignty and thus was barred by
 doctrine of sovereign immunity, in case arising out of statements indicating members should be
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 disenrolled from tribe, where defendants were tribal officials at time of alleged defamation and
 were acting within scope of tribal authority when they made the allegedly defamatory
 statements).
 Plaintiff claims to have suffered “emotional hardship,” “financial debt,” “lack of
 employment,” “mental anguish,” and harm to her “personal integrity.” (Compl. at p.4). This
 harm allegedly was caused by the transfers of employment within Oneida Nation and the
 termination of plaintiff’s employment with Oneida Nation. The Complaint does not allege
 conduct by the individual defendants establishing a claim against defendants under any federal
 statute. As shown in part III, below, the Complaint fails to state a claim under any federal statute
 upon which relief may be granted against defendants.
 III. The Complaint Must be Dismissed Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) Because TheAllegations Fail to State a Claim Upon Which Relief May be Granted AgainstDefendants.
 The Complaint contains allegations that appear to assert a claim for a hostile work
 environment allegedly experienced by plaintiff while she worked as Insurance Clerk in the Risk
 Management department in 2013. In addition, the Complaint suggests that plaintiff suffered
 adverse consequences in retaliation for “blowing the whistle” concerning defendant Jay Fuss’s
 misappropriation and theft while Superintendent of the Oneida Housing Authority. Finally,
 some allegations appear to assert harm arising from statements about plaintiff.
 The Complaint fails to state a claim for retaliation, hostile work environment, or
 defamation upon which relief may be granted against any of the individual defendants under Fed.
 R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). The allegations do not establish claims against defendants Melinda
 Danforth, Larry Barton, Cristina Danforth, or Geraldine Danforth. Therefore, the Complaint
 must be dismissed as a matter of law.
 Before turning to the potential theories of recovery, it is notable that the Complaint
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 pleads no connection between the alleged harm and conduct of any of the individual defendants.
 Put simply, none of the defendants are claimed to have done anything wrong. To summarize
 each defendant’s alleged role based upon the allegations of the Complaint:
 Melinda Danforth – There are no allegations whatsoever asserted against Melinda.
 Cristina Danforth – Oneida Nation Treasurer, she was alleged to have had a conversation
 with plaintiff after her “whistle blowing.” There is no allegation that Cristina terminated
 plaintiff’s employment or that she was plaintiff’s supervisor.
 Larry Barton – Oneida Nation CFO, there is no allegation that Barton terminated plaintiff’s
 employment or that he was plaintiff’s supervisor.
 Geraldine Danforth – HRD Director of Oneida Nation. There is no allegation that
 Geraldine terminated plaintiff’s employment or that she was plaintiff’s supervisor. The
 Complaint alleges statements made by Geraldine directly to plaintiff.
 A. There is No Claim Stated Under Title VII Against Defendants.
 To the extent plaintiff asserts a “hostile” work environment, she may be attempting to
 make a claim under Title VII. If so, it must be dismissed because any claim under Title VII
 under the alleged facts — the employment actions between March 2013 and September 2014
 (Compl. at p.3) — is barred by the statute of limitations of Title VII. Any asserted Title VII
 claim also must be dismissed because the Complaint fails to state such a claim upon which relief
 may be granted against defendants.
 1. The Title VII Claims Are Barred by The Statute of Limitations.
 Plaintiff’s claims under Title VII, if any, arose in March 2013 (change of job from
 Housing Authority to Risk Management), November 2013 (termination from Risk Management),
 and January-September 2014 (assignment to Oneida Museum and termination from that
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 position). This action was filed on September 11, 2017, more than two years after the
 termination from the Oneida Museum.
 Any claims under Title VII are barred by the statute of limitations because this action was
 filed more than two years after the alleged job transfers and terminations of plaintiff’s
 employment. Before filing a Title VII employment discrimination lawsuit, a complainant must
 first file a charge with the EEOC within 180 days (6 months) from the date of the alleged
 discrimination. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(e)(1). Further, a complainant has 300 days to file a charge
 with a state or local agency if such agency enforces a law that prohibits discrimination on the
 same basis as in Wisconsin. (Id.).
 Under even the longest of these periods, 300 days, the statute of limitations has expired.
 The last alleged event was on September 18, 2014, plaintiff’s termination from the Oneida
 Museum. A Title VII claim arising from that termination expired 300 days later – on July 15,
 2015. Therefore, any Title VII claim must be dismissed because it was time-barred when this
 action was filed on September 11, 2017.
 2. The Complaint Fails to State a Claim Under Title VII Upon WhichRelief May be Granted Against Defendants.
 In addition, the Complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted against
 any of the individual defendants under Title VII. A claim for retaliation under Title VII requires
 the employee to show that she took some step in opposition to a form of discrimination
 prohibited by statute. Chapman v. Milwaukee Cty., 151 F. Supp. 3d 892, 897 (E.D. Wis. 2015);
 see 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a) (protected classes are “race, color, religion, sex, or national origin”).
 The discrimination complained about may have been against the employee herself, or against a
 co-worker. (Id.); see also Cullom v. Brown, 209 F.3d 1035, 1040 (7th Cir. 2000) (“The usual
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 case of retaliation in violation of Title VII occurs when an employee suffers an adverse job
 action because he complained about some form of discrimination.”)
 The statute, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e, has been construed to prohibit an employer from
 pursuing retaliatory measures against an employee for exercising her rights under Title VII.
 Collum, 209 F.3d at 1040; see also Miller v. Am. Family Mut. Ins. Co., 203 F.3d 997, 1007 (7th
 Cir. 2000) (“Title VII protects persons not just from certain forms of job discrimination, but from
 retaliation for complaining about the types of discrimination it prohibits.”). To establish a
 retaliation claim under Title VII, a plaintiff must allege that she: “ ‘(1) opposed an unlawful
 employment practice under Title VII; (2) was the object of an adverse employment action; and
 (3) the adverse employment action was caused by her opposition to the unlawful employment
 practice.’ ” Congleton v. Oneida Cty., No. 16-cv-412-wmc, 2017 WL 4621117, at *16 (W.D.
 Wis. Oct. 13, 2017) (citing Cullom, 209 F.3d at 1040). “This requires the plaintiff to have
 complained about discrimination based on a protected class; failing to indicate a connection to a
 protected status—either explicitly or through facts establishing that inference—is insufficient.”
 (Id.); see also Chapman, 151 F. Supp. 3d at 898 (“To adequately state a claim for Title VII
 retaliation, the complaint must specifically identify the protected activity that the plaintiff
 allegedly engaged in.”).
 The Complaint does not allege that plaintiff was retaliated against for complaining about
 discrimination on the basis of a protected class (e.g., race, sex, color, religion, national origin)
 under Title VII, as required to state a claim. Therefore, the Complaint fails to state a claim for
 retaliation under Title VII.
 Second, the Complaint also fails to state a claim under Title VII against defendants
 because Title VII prohibits discrimination by “employers” – it does not apply to employees, or
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 even supervising employees. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2. As a matter of law, a Title VII claim can be
 asserted only against the employer – here, Oneida Nation – not an individual supervisor or fellow
 employee. The Seventh Circuit has repeatedly held “Title VII authorizes suits against
 employers, not employees.” Sullivan v. Village of McFarland, 457 F. Supp. 2d 909, 914 (W.D.
 Wis. 2006) (emphasis added), aff’d, 232 Fed. Appx. 585 (7th Cir. 2007); see also United States
 Equal Employment Opportunity Commission v. AIC Sec. Investigations, Ltd., 55 F.3d 1276, 1281
 (7th Cir. 1995) (no individual liability under Title VII, ADA, or ADEA). “It is by now well
 established in this court that ‘a supervisor does not, in his individual capacity, fall within Title
 VII’s definition of employer.’ ” Sattar v. Motorola, Inc., 138 F.3d 1164, 1168 (7th Cir. 1998);
 see also Williams v. Banning, 72 F.3d 552, 555 (7th Cir. 1995) (“a supervisor does not, in his
 individual capacity, fall within Title VII’s definition of employer”).
 Third, a Title VII claim cannot be asserted against plaintiff’s “employer,” Oneida Nation,
 because Indian tribes are specifically excluded from Title VIIl. Indian tribes are exempted from
 the definition of “employers” subject to liability under the statute: “(b) The term “employer” . . .
 does not include . . . an Indian tribe.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(b). See also Barker v. Menominee
 Nation Casino, 897 F. Supp. 389, 394 (E.D. Wis. 1995) (citing the statute, noting that it
 “specifically exclud[es] Indian tribes from the definition of ‘employer’ in discrimination cases”);
 Bruguier v. Lac du Flambeau Band of Lake Superior Chippewa Indians, 237 F. Supp. 3d 867,
 875 (W.D. Wis. 2017) (holding that “plaintiffs cannot state a Title VII claim against the Tribe”
 on the ground that an Indian tribe is not an “employer” subject to Title VII); Duke v. Absentee
 Shawnee Tribe of Oklahoma Hous. Auth., 199 F.3d 1123, 1124-1125 (10th Cir. 1999) (Housing
 Authority of Shawnee tribe was an Indian tribe for purposes of “Indian tribe” exemption of Title
 VII).
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 Accordingly, Title VII does not apply to the employment actions alleged in the
 Complaint since Oneida Nation is an Indian tribe. The Complaint must be dismissed to the
 extent it attempts to assert a Title VII claim against defendants.
 B. There is No Claim For Relief Stated Under The False Claims Act AgainstThe Individual Defendants.
 Plaintiff appears to claim that unidentified persons at Oneida Nation retaliated against her
 as a result of her “blowing the whistle,” that is, her disclosing the misappropriation and theft by
 defendant Jay Fuss while Superintendent of the Oneida Housing Authority. (Compl. at pp.3-4).
 Fuss allegedly misappropriated materials intended for use at Oneida Housing Authority projects
 subject to HUD for construction of new housing or rehabilitation of existing housing. (Id.). As
 alleged, Fuss misappropriated materials belonging to Oneida Nation. If plaintiff intends to assert
 a claim under the False Claims Act (“FCA”), a FCA claim cannot be stated as a matter of law
 against the individual defendants.
 In order to establish a violation of the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3730(h), a plaintiff
 is required to show that (1) her actions were taken “in furtherance of” a False Claims Act
 enforcement action and were therefore protected by the statute; (2) her employer had knowledge
 that she was engaged in this protected conduct; and (3) her discharge was motivated, at least in
 part, by the protected conduct. Fanslow v. Chicago Mfg. Ctr., Inc., 384 F.3d 469, 479 (7th Cir.
 2004).
 The anti-retaliation provision of the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3730(h), provides a
 private cause of action against an employer that retaliates against an employee for taking action
 with a good faith belief that the employer is defrauding the federal government. However, there
 is no such cause of action against employees in their individual capacity. Aryai v. Forfeiture
 Support Associates, 25 F. Supp. 3d 376, 387 (S.D.N.Y. 2012) (holding that there is no FCA
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 retaliation cause of action against employees in their individual capacity; only employer can
 incur liability under § 3730(h)); Brach v. Conflict Kinetics Corp., 221 F. Supp. 3d 743 (E.D. Va.
 2016) (FCA anti-retaliation provision does not provide for individual supervisor liability).
 Plaintiff has not sued her employer, Oneida Nation, for retaliation. Plaintiff’s retaliation
 claims are asserted only against individual employees of Oneida Nation in their individual
 capacity. (Compl. at pp.1-2). As plaintiff emphasizes in her “Motion to Reject Motion to
 Dismiss” [Doc.#18] filed on November 15, 2017, defendants “are being sued as individuals” for
 “prohibited retaliatory action.” [Doc.#18:1] (emphasis added). The retaliation claims against
 Cristina Danforth, Larry Barton, Melinda Danforth, and Geraldine Danforth must be dismissed
 as a matter of law because there is no cause of action to sue employees for violation of the anti-
 retaliation provision of the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3730(h).
 Finally, the Complaint alleges that defendant Fuss engaged in fraudulent activities,
 stealing from Oneida Nation. The Complaint does not allege that there was a FCA claim being
 made against Oneida Nation arising from those facts. That is, it does not allege that Oneida
 Nation violated the FCA by submitting false claims to the federal government. Moreover, there
 could not be a FCA claim against Oneida Nation because Indian tribes are not “persons” subject
 to actions by the government or private parties under the FCA. See United States v. Menominee
 Tribal Enterprises, 601 F. Supp. 2d 1061, 1068 (E.D. Wis. 2009) (Indian tribe was not “person”
 under False Claims Act and thus tribe’s business arm could not be sued under the FCA); see also
 United States ex rel. Cain v. Salish Kootenai Coll., Inc., 862 F.3d 939, 943 (9th Cir. 2017)
 (“[W]e cannot hold that the Tribe is a ‘person’ subject to suit under the FCA. The statute doesn’t
 once mention tribes, hardly an ‘affirmative showing’ that Congress intended to include them in
 the term ‘person.’ ”).
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 C. There Are No Claims For Relief Stated Against The Individual DefendantsUnder The “No FEAR Act” or The Whistleblower Protection Act.
 The Complaint also fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted against
 defendants under the “No FEAR Act” or the Whistleblower Protection Act.
 The Motion to Reject Motion to Dismiss [Doc.#18] asserts that the “No FEAR Act”
 prohibits defendants from engaging in prohibited retaliation. [Doc.#18:1]. However, the No
 FEAR Act does not apply to defendants and there is further no private cause of action available
 to the plaintiff under that act.
 The No FEAR Act does not give rise to a claim in this case because the Act applies only
 to federal agencies. On May 15, 2002, Congress enacted the “Notification and Federal
 Employee Antidiscrimination and Retaliation Act of 2002,” which is now known as the “No
 FEAR Act.” See Pub. L. 107-174, codified at 5 U.S.C. § 2301. As stated in the full title of the
 Act, the Act is intended to “require that Federal agencies be accountable for violations of
 antidiscrimination and whistleblower protection laws.” Pub. L. No. 107–174, 116 Stat. 566, 566
 (2002) (emphasis added).
 The No FEAR Act does not apply here because it only applies to federal agencies. 5
 U.S.C. § 2301(a)(1) (statute applies only to “an Executive agency”). Further, even if the No
 FEAR Act did apply, plaintiff cannot sue under the act because it does not give rise to claims by
 individuals to sue (i.e., a private cause of action) for alleged violations of the act. Williams v.
 Spencer, 883 F. Supp. 2d 165, 182 (D.D.C. 2012) (the No Fear Act does not provide a private
 cause of action); Glaude v. United States, 248 Fed. Appx. 175, 177 (Fed. Cir. 2007) (“Of the few
 courts that have considered claims made under the No Fear Act, none have found that the Act
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 provides a private cause of action or creates a substantive right for which the government must
 pay damages.”).7
 Likewise, plaintiff cannot state a claim upon which relief may be granted under the
 Whistleblower Protection Act. The Whistleblower Protection Act, 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8),
 prohibits retaliation against certain federal employees of federal agencies who expose waste,
 fraud, and abuse. Specifically, section 2302(b)(8) prohibits taking or threatening to take a
 personnel action against “an employee in, or applicant for, a covered position in an agency”
 (emphasis added) because that individual disclosed information “which the employee or
 applicant reasonably believes evidences (i) any violation of any law, rule, or regulation, or
 (ii) gross mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, an abuse of authority, or a substantial and
 specific danger to public health or safety . . . .” See e.g., Parkinson v. Dept. of J., 874 F.3d 710,
 713–14 (Fed. Cir. 2017).
 The Whistleblower Protection Act is inapplicable because plaintiff is not a federal
 employee and the defendants are not an “agency” within the meaning of the statute. 5 U.S.C.
 § 2302(b)(8). Under the WPA, “agency” means an agency of the Executive branch of the United
 States government. 5 U.S.C.A. § 2302(a)(2)(C). Plaintiff was not an employee of an agency of
 the Executive branch of the United States government. Further, defendants are individuals and
 not a federal agency.
 7See also Baney v. Mukasey, No. 06–2064, 2008 WL 706917, at *6–7 (N.D. Tex. Mar. 14, 2008) (finding
 no private cause of action); Mallard v. Brennan, 1:14-CV-00342-JAW, 2015 WL 2092545, at *9 (D.Me. May 5, 2015) (Courts uniformly conclude that No FEAR Act creates no private cause of actionor substantive rights.); Semmes v. U.S., CV 07-B-1682-NE, 2009 WL 10688451, at *5 (N.D. Ala.Mar. 31, 2009) (No FEAR Act does not provide an independent jurisdictional basis for a suit, nordoes it furnish any independent cause of action).
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 D. There is No Claim Stated For Defamation.
 The Complaint alleges that defendant Geraldine Danforth, the HRD Director, told
 plaintiff Dawn Delebreau that “she was not liked” nor was she “wanted” in the Risk
 Management Department, and Geraldine “didn’t approve” the move of plaintiff to the
 department “as she was a ‘Whistle Blower.’ ” (Compl. at p.3). Plaintiff also generally claims
 there were “disparaging remarks about [her]” to her son/children on a “continual basis” and
 “assaults” to her “personal integrity/character.” (Compl. at p.4, “Relief Wanted” section).
 To the extent these allegations attempt to state a claim for defamation under Wisconsin
 law, they fail for several reasons and must be dismissed under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). First, the
 general allegations concerning “personal integrity/character” fail to state a claim for defamation
 because such generalized allegations do not state a claim for defamation. The Complaint does
 not set forth a false statement made to a third party that injured plaintiff’s reputation. See
 Laughland v. Beckett, 2015 WI App 70, ¶ 22, 365 Wis. 2d 148, 870 N.W.2d 466.
 Second, any defamation claim is barred by the statute of limitations. The statute of
 limitations for defamation is three years, Wis. Stat. § 893.57. The statements allegedly made by
 Geraldine Danforth occurred when plaintiff was in the Risk Management Department, “working
 in the HRD building.” (Compl. at p.3). Plaintiff was terminated by the Risk Management
 Department in November 2013 and as of January 21, 2014, she was employed by the Oneida
 Museum. (Compl. at p.3). Assuming the statements were made in January 2014, at the latest,
 the statute of limitations for defamation claims against those statements expired by February
 2017. Therefore, any defamation claim arising from Geraldine’s alleged statements was time-
 barred when this action was filed in September 2017.
 Third, the statements allegedly made by Geraldine Danforth do not constitute defamation
 as a matter of law because they were made to plaintiff directly. Plaintiff claims that Geraldine
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 told plaintiff the statements alleged. (Compl. at p.3). Because they were told to plaintiff, the
 statements allegedly made by Geraldine fail to establish a defamation claim as a matter of law.
 Laughland, 2015 WI App 70, ¶ 22 (“The elements of a common law action for defamation are:
 (1) a false statement; (2) communicated by speech, conduct or in writing to a person other than
 the one defamed; and (3) the communication is unprivileged and tends to harm one’s reputation,
 lowering him or her in the estimation of the community or deterring third persons from
 associating or dealing with him or her.”) (emphasis added). Further, truth is a “complete
 defense” to a defamation claim. (Id.) Geraldine is alleged to have told plaintiff she is a “whistle
 blower.” That statement was true, as plaintiff claims to be a whistle blower. (Compl. at pp.3-4).
 Fourth, as discussed at pages 9 to 10, above, any defamation claim should be dismissed
 for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The court should refrain from exercising supplemental
 jurisdiction over state law claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1367 since there are no sustainable federal
 claims.
 CONCLUSION
 The Complaint should be dismissed against defendants Cristina Danforth, Larry Barton,
 Melinda Danforth, and Geraldine Danforth pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) and Fed. R. Civ.
 P. 12(b)(6).
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 Dated this 24th day of January, 2018.
 HUSCH BLACKWELL LLP
 s/Lisa M. Lawless
 Kenneth R. NowakowskiLisa M. LawlessLaura L. Malugade
 Attorneys for Defendants Cristina Danforth,Larry Barton, Melinda Danforth, andGeraldine Danforth
 555 East Wells Street, Suite 1900Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202-3819Telephone: 414-273-2100Fax: 414-223-5000Email: [email protected]: [email protected]: [email protected]
 Certificate of Service
 I hereby certify that on January 24, 2018, I electronically filed this document on behalf of
 the above-referenced defendants with the Clerk of Court by using the ECF system.
 I further certify that I am serving this document on plaintiff on January 24, 2018 by U.S.
 Mail, first class postage prepaid:
 Dawn M. DelebreauW480 Fish Creek RdDe Pere, WI 54115
 Jay L. FussN4731 County Road UDe Pere, WI 54115
 s/Lisa M. Lawless________Lisa M. Lawless
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